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This project is dedicated to William (Bill) Fraziethose long interest in the mills of Wayne

County, Indiana was a driving force behind thisjgct




Map of mills sites. Courtesy of Gunty Atkins.
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Introduction

| spent the summer of 2005 in the company of Whlli&ill” Frazier, a local mill
enthusiast, who was an excellent resource and khagfanformation. He had spent many years
of his life researching mills all over the counlmyt mainly in his hometown of Richmond,
Indiana. He knew where many of the mills had Heeated and had done extensive research on
his own out of files of the Palladium Item, thedboewspaper. Many of the articles that he had
found are utilized in this paper. My Indiana Unrisiey East faculty mentor on this project was
Peggy Branstrator, Senior Lecturer of Biology. Hasband, Jon Branstrator, Professor
Emeritus of Geosciences at Earlham College, alsistad during this research. We visited
many of the mill sites, took pictures of remainapplicable, and also took GPS location
readings.

Two books on Wayne County history held by the Msson-Reeves Library were
important resources for this paper. Henry Clay,Roxidge for the Wayne County Circuit

Court, wrote Memoirs of Wayne County and the Cit)Reehmond, Indiana Vol.l and Vol.ih

1812. Another book, History of Wayne Countyublished in 1884 by the Interstate Publishing

Company, contained a wealth of information. Ththauis unknown.
William O. Wissler wrote a paper on the historytloé mills in the county in 1912. He

cites as one of his sources the above mentionddridigf Wayne County1884). Since

plagiarism was not stressed as much during this fieriod, it appears that much of what he
wrote in this document was an exact duplicatiomfifrmation contained within the 1884 book.
An attempt has been made to credit Wissler for ¢mdyinformation believed to be his own
genuine research. However, some of this informatay also be published within History of

Wayne County Wissler also wrote many of the articles usetkéxrences from the Palladium




Item. The authority of the research for thesekadsiis unknown.

Two pictorial histories of the county written by\iith and Walter Dalbey in 1896 and
another in 1906 were also used. The Dalbeys vihet® as souvenirs for people visiting the
county’ The editions are very similar and the 1906 editi@s reprinted as a centennial
souvenir.

The purpose of this research is to document thretitmes of the mills that existed in
Wayne County in the nineteenth and early twentetituries. This project is of great
importance to conserve the history of Wayne Couliiyowing more about the place that one
calls home gives a sense of belonging, and pridieernard work of many people to make
Richmond and Wayne County what it is today. Important to understand the past so that we
know where we are going in the future. It is dammeportant for possible preservation of the sites.
This is a listing of the mill site locations, typémills present, owners, and GPS locations of the

mill sites which are listed by township.

General Mill Information

When the settlers first arrived in an area, theyteahave a year’s worth of supplies with
them. Until the land was cleared and the first'geerops harvested, the settlers had no grain.
Once the grain was harvested, the settlers hadrd i into flour. Some families brought hand

grinders with them for their corn while others usepiece of tin perforated by nail holes to grind

! Edwin Dalbey and Walter Dalbey, Pictorial Histafythe City of Richmond, IndiangRichmond, Indiana:
Nicholson Printing and Manufacturing Co., 1896), 1.

2 GPS stands for Global Positioning System andhietnod by which exact locations can be pinpointeearth by
use of satellites.
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the corn before it was completely dryAccording to Seth Schiotterbeck, mills were baiting

streams of every size until there were many in aipean. Mills became focal points of

commerce and trade. Networks of roads were luaind around the mills. All of the larger
towns had many mills in the immediate area andnoat all cases the presence of a mill led to a
town being built nearb$.

Milling was an important industry in all of the "ed parts of the state of Indiana and the
entire United States. The settlement of the UBiad water sources in the eighteenth and
nineteenth centuries because of this need for.milfater was needed to consume and as a
source of power. Water was the preferred and effistent source of power at the time.
However, when water was not sufficient to run theeel due to low rainfall, drought, flooding,
or location, many mills relied on one-horse tredi$nar multi-horse hitches to run the
millwheel®

Storage facilities of the time were not very sopbaed and raw materials stored better
than the finished products. Therefore, many mdlsonly a limited amount of time or not at all
during farming season. Some of the mills in thehiRiond area would have been considered
“merchant mills.” This means that people from othkaces came to the area to have their grain

ground when transportation routes incredsed.

Types of Mills

Grist mills ground many types of grain such as cameat, and hominy into flour. Grist

% Henry Clay Fox, ed., Memoirs of Wayne County amel €ity of Richmond, Indiana/ol.1, (Madison, Wisconsin:
Western Historical Association, 1912), 58.

* Seth Schlotterbeck, By Old Mill Streams: A Comnaenton the Mills, Streams and Cemeteries of Pr€blenty,
Ohiog, 1986, Preble County Historical Society, Kee PmigitEaton, Ohio, 3.

® Gerald E. Waite, “Grist Mills of Delaware Countydiana,”Indiana Magazine of History (1999), 364.
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mills usually ran by burh stones, a corn crackes mller process. Burh stones are the typical

flat, thick, round stones used for grinding grairhe top stone was the “running” stone and the
bottom stone stayed stationary. These were calledn of stones.” Each stone had a series of
grooves that ran from the middle to the outsidbesE grooves were specific to the type of grain
being ground. As the grain moved along these greov was ground finer and finer. Burh
stones wore down and left fine gravel in the flolihis would wear down the teeth of the people
who ate it. Some stone types were better to wsedthers because they left less debris. Most
stones used for burhs were imported from Francenand very expensive to sHip.

A corn cracker, another types of grist mill, wash@aper and simpler way to grind corn
but it was neither efficient nor did it grind theam very finely. A corn cracker consists of a
small dam of logs in a stream with a spout to divemter. A trough was placed below it to
collect the water. The trough was connected ting pole with a pestle or “stomper” on the end
of it. Below the pestle was a bin containing graithen the trough filled with water, the pestle
was lifted, and when the trough became full, it gechover, releasing the water and pestle
which slammed the pestle into the grain.

All types of mills eventually converted to a difést method as technology developed.
As metals became more widely used and availabid|ex process was invented that ground the
corn vertically instead of horizontally as the bstbnes had. Steel rollers became preferred for
grinding corn because it ground the corn finer withstone debris.

The dust from the grinding of grain settled onrgtreng and filled millers’ lungs so that

they typically died at an early age. This dust ldalso burn explosively with the smallest

® Waite, “Grist Mills of Delaware County, Indiana, 999, 365.
" Waite, “Grist Mills of Delaware County, Indiana, 999, 364.
8 William Frazier, interview by author, summer 2005.
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spark. Almost every grist mill in the county budnat least once. Most were rebuilt after they

burned to continue production, but often with a rewer™°

Nineteenth century mills also provided many othemddits for settlers. Flax seed mills
produced oil, and the stalks of the flax plant pded fiber for linen. Woolen mills were also
common in the area. Farmers brought wool to be §go yarn and woven into clothing. The
mill process was much faster and did not requirg$iof labor by someone behind a spinning
wheel.

Woolen mills used various procedures for cardgminning, and weaving wool.

Combing and cleaning the wool was called cardingring spinning the wool was twisted
together into yarn that could be woven into fabfidost woolen mills had at least three stories to
house all of the machinery needed for producing wad fabric.

Saw mills manufactured another useful product. yTde wood for lumber used for
buildings. A saw called a “sash saw” was usedrfitiing lumber. No other saw had been
invented for the process at that time. A sashisanlong saw with a blade that moved in an up
and down motion over the wood. Some saw mills weneat night to leave the daylight open
for farming* Since grain could be hauled a longer distance Wwod, saw mills were more
common in the area than grist mitfs.

All types of mills needed a water source. Modtsnised water that flowed to the mill
by the way of a millrace. A deep trench was dwgially at a bend in the river, from one point in

the river to the mill site, forming a channel cedlke mill race for the water to run to the wheel.

° SchlotterbeckBy Old Mill Streams, 1986, 13.

Y william Frazier, interview by author, summer 2005.

™ SchlotterbeckBy Old Mill Sreams, 1986, 3.

12 william Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County”, 191®npublished typed manuscript, Morrisson-Reeves
Library, Richmond, Indiana, 4.
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Some of the indentations from former millraces stlhbe seen throughout Wayne Coufty.

Not all mills, however, were powered by water.nm&amills converted to steam power,
using coal or wood to run the wheel, at the sththe® Industrial Revolution. Most mills
converted to this form of power eventually. Sorsediboth forms of power for a long tirtie.
Grist, saw, woolen, and oil mills could all useastepower. However, this paper will focus

primarily on the water powered mills.

Geological Background

Wayne County proved to be an ideal area to locatemdriven mills to meet the needs
of the area’s settlers because it had an abunddrsveftly moving water. The 25 foot drop at
the falls of Elkhorn Creek provided a perfect lomatfor the overshot wheel of Hunt's grist mill
located there. The change in elevation from th¢heon half of the county, at about 1200 feet
above sea level, to the southern half of the cquattgbout 900 feet above sea level, is 300 ft.
This large elevation change gave tremendous watgeippotential to this area and supported
many different types of mill§. Wayne County had 166 total mill sites with ovép 2ifferent
mills on these siteS. According to William Wissler, this is the largestmber of mills ever
built in one county in the United States with tixeeption of Monroe County in the state of New

York.

Settlement of Wayne County, Indiana

The first white settlers to discover the Whitewatatley were George Holman, Richard

13 William Frazier, interview by author, summer 2005.
1 William Frazier, interview by author, summer 2005.
15 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City if Richmond, Indiana. Vol.1, 17.
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Hue, and Thomas McCoy. They came from North Caacdind many were Quakers. David

Hoover, who served as a judge in Wayne County famyryears, and his father Andrew Hoover
led the first band of settlers to Wayne CountyhnJ8mith and Jeremiah Cox, who built one of
the first mills in the county, settled next. Thegre also natives of North Caroliha.According
to Seth Schlotterbeck’s publication, Jeremiah Caxed to Preble County, Ohio planning on
finding good mill sites. He was devastated wheifoed better water power in what is now
Wayne County, Indiana and began his operationsfiere

Early settlers to eastern Indiana and Wayne Coadya very hard life. Clearing a space
for a homestead was the first trial of pioneer. lif@learing land for farming became the next
trial. It took the entire community working togettto raise buildings and clear land for ro&ts.
Settlers needed these roads for travel to Eat@eomantown, Ohio to have their grain ground
to flour. They carried their grain by horse and t@and from the mill along treacherous routes.
Lumber also had to be cut to build homes. Sawsrhéid to be built to fill this order. Therefore
building a mill was an early priority when an axeas settled.

In 1806, Charles Hunt and his four sons settle&l&horn Creek and built the first saw
mill in the county. Jeremiah Cox built a grist Insibon after about three miles north of Hunt's
mill, on the West Fork of the Whitewater River. i3 area was later occupied by the Starr Piano
Company?® The settlers of Jay and Randolph counties caame &s far as fifty to sixty miles
away to have their grain ground at the mills in WaZounty?*

| have done my best to document those mills. H@wnd could only document those

18 Fox, ed Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana. Vol.1, 27.
" Fox, ed Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana. Vol.1, 27.
18 SchlotterbeckBy Old Mill Sreams: 1986, 27.

Fox, Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, VVol.1, 30.

20 Fox, Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 58.
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with citable sources and with adequate informatiooumented about them. The following is

an annotated list of these mills by township andlogue number.

A List of Mills by Township, Order Researched, and Catal ogue Number

Wayne Township

Wayne Township contained more mill sites than attner township in the county due to
the large number of water power sites along thet®ater River. In 1857, Richmond alone,
contained about twenty-two grist mills, twenty-faaw mills, two oil mills, two paper mills, and

many woolen mills?

Wayne-12—Test Woolen Mills (a.k.a. Mt. Vernon Woolen Mill, Richmond Woolen Mills)

Location This mill was located on the mahannel of the Whitewater River. Itis
located southwest of Richmond at the b@gopof the Gorge Trail on
Test Road.

Latitude 3948 33"N

Longitude 84 54’ 28" W

UTM: 16 S 0679075

4408451

Township/Range NW corner of NW corner of Section 8 Townsh{N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Saw, Grist, and Woolen

Date Erected circa 1856

Ceased Operation 1900

Remains Ruins of buildings can be seen

A saw mill and grist mill occupied this site befdhe woolen mill. Atticus Sidell owned

2L issler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 4.
22 History of Wayne County, Indiana Vol.2, (Chicago: Interstate Publishing Co. [1884B.
% This is a cataloguing label used for paperwork pistire numbering. It has no other purposesdsearch.
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the saw mill and Edward Wright owned the grist ffillBoth remained in operation until they

burned in the early 1850's. Alpheus Test builtcmln mill on the site which was known as the
Mt. Vernon Woolen Mill in 1856. The mill burnedwa in 1858 but Test rebuilt it in 1859 with
a partner named Abijah Moffit. Alpheus Test's nephews, Oliver, William, Rufusdd.indley
Test became owners in 1885The mill burned down again on November 29, 1866/ims
immediately rebuilt’ In 1868 a stone dye house was built on the ptgped in 1871 carding
and spinning rooms were add&din 1882, William and Rufus became the sole own@ise
Test family ran the mill site for more than fortgars®® It burned down again in 1900. The city
tore down the ruins of the building in 1904 becatseemed them unsaf@.

This site was also known as the Richmond Woolenshtibom 1885 to 1908" It is more
commonly referred to as the Test Woolen Mill by Bedladium Item articles of that era because

of the owner’s last names.

24 History of Wayne County, Indianéol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1888}.
% Quaker City TelegrarfRichmond, IN), 20 October 1859.

26 Quaker City TelegrarfRichmond, Indiana), 20 October 1859.

27 palladium-Item(Richmond, IN), 17 September 1952.

% History of Wayne County, Indiandol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1888§
29 History of Wayne County, Indian¥ol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1888%
%0 Sun TelegrangRichmond, Indiana, 1 June 1904.

31 wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 19.
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Test Woolen Mill* before being torn down in 190Rhoto courtesy of the Indiana Historical Society.

*The building on the left was where the wool wagdly The building on the right was where the woaswiried. The water between the two
buildings was the original Richmond-Brookville Cana



Bill Frazier and the Test Mill ruins at Gorge Triedilhead on Test Road 2005. Photo taken by PBggpystrator.

Wayne-2—Larsh Flour & Saw Mill (a.k.a. McFadden Sawnill, Canal Mill, Liberty Avenue

Mill)

Location This mill was located on the IRiwond-Brookville Canal on
Liberty Avenueush of Richmond.

Latitude 3947 44" N

Longitude 84 54’ 39" W

UTM: Unknown

Township/Range NE corner of NE corner of Section 18 Towpsh8 N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Saw and Grist

Date Erected 1868

Ceased Operation 1903
Remains None
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Located on the Whitewater River about two mileobeRichmond between

Backmeyer and Beelor hills, was the McFadden sally tiné first mill at this sité? In 1868,
Leroy W. Larsh, with his son Lafayette, bought pineperty and built a flouring mill on the site.
A disagreement over water supply temporarily haitedperation after only a few yedrsThe
Larsh mill used water from the Richmond-Brookvillanaf* which was never finished. This
site was also called the Canal Mill because itewsburce. In 1874, Leroy retired and Corwin
Larsh became partners with Lafayette under the Hzarsh & Bros™ George Deuker bought
the property from Larsh in 1899. He owned the mitkn it burned down in 19G8. The

townspeople commonly knew this mill as the Libektyenue Mill because of its locatich.

32 palladium-Item(Richmond, IN), 19 May 1953.

33 Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 19.

% This canal was built to connect Richmond to BralyIN for commerce.
% palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 19 May 1953.

3 History of Wayne County, Indiana, Vol.2, 78.

37 palladium-ltenRichmond, IN), 11 July 1903.



Painting of the Larsh Mill by Edgar Schalk, dat«woown. Photo courtesy of Jon Branstrator.

Wayne-3—Richmond Woolen Mill (a.k.a. Brightwell Mill, Cox Mill)

Location This mill was located on the melrannel of the Whitewater River where
the Starr Piana@pany was located, near Main Street.
Latitude 3949 31" N
Longitude 84 54’ 03" W
UTM: 16 S 0679635
4410243
Township/Range SE corner of NW corner of Section 5 TownsHpNVRange 1 W
Mill Type: Grist and Woolen

Date Erected 1807
Ceased Operation1870
Remains None

Jeremiah Cox built a grist mill below the Main &tr&ridge, near the site of the Starr

Piano Company, immediately on the bank of the nrel807. This was the second corn
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cracker® in the county’® Cox ran the mill until 1833 when he sold to JésBfummer, who

then sold to James Mendenhall in 1835. The mdihgfed hands a few more times before Basil
Brightwell became the owner in 1847. He built atirely new mill, and turned the old one into

an oil mill *°

When the mill developed financial trouble, Brigietl, fearing humiliation, killed
himself inside the mill. This led to rumors obiting haunted®
A few years later in 1865, Jackson, Swayne, anthDuought the mill, enlarged it,

changed it into a woolen mill, and named it thehRiond Woolen Mills? The woolen mill

burned in 1870 and the property was sold to Stand®Works*®

Wayne-4—Richmond Roller Mill (a.k.a. Carpenter Mill, Richmond Feed and Grain,

Richmond Milling and Grain, Green Street Mill)

Location This mill was located on the dask of the Whitewater River on Sim
Hodgin Parkway.

Latitude Unknown

Longitude Unknown

UTM: 16 S 0679805
4411051

Township/Range SW corner of SE corner of Section 32 TowndigN/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Grist

Date Erected 1864
Ceased OperationUnknown
Remains Ruins of buildings can be seen.

In 1864 Marmon, Nordyke, & Co built the RichmondlleoMill and Elevator, also

known as the Richmond Feed and Grain. H.C. Wrightit as a grist mill until 1876 when it

3 A corn cracker was another name for a methodgimaind corn to meal. Discussed previously in exe.t

% palladium-ltem(Richmond, In) 24 November 1943.

0 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 467 Palladium-ltem(Richmond,
IN), 29 November 1943.

“! palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 24 April 1944.

“2 palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 24 November 1943.

3 Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 20.
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was purchased by Charles Carpenter. Water povileeeahill until steam power was added in

1883* Rollers were also added at this time. In 1886,dwners stripped the entire mill and
added new machinefy. Charles Carpenter owned it in 19%2.

Curme, Coleman, and Co. purchased the mill in M#2&n Carpenter retired at the age of
92" In 1929, the company faced an increasing demamfiéd and opened a new state-of-the-
art grist mill on the same property known as thehRiond Feed and Graffi. The mill caught
fire and sustained massive damage in 1930, butmediately rebuilf® In 1933, G.L. and
Joseph Clark purchased the mill and renamed itRactd Milling and Grain. At this point the
mill operated entirely by electricify. This mill's production replaced the Metamora RpMill

which had recently been destroyed by fite.

4 History of Wayne County, Indianéol.2, (Chicago: Inter-Sate Publishing Co. [1884.
> Richmond Sun-TelegraifRichmond, IN) 19 December 1906.

“8 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 512.

" Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 1 July 1928.

“8 Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 24 February 1929.

“9 Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 16 November 1930.

%0 palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 8 December 1943.

®1 Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 1 July 1933.




Ruins of an old building where Richmond Roller Mils located. 2005. Photo taken by Peggy Bravstra

Wayne 5—Richmond City Mills (a.k.a. Bush Mill, Newnan Mill)

Location This mill was located on ByelAvenue below the hill at the end of Butler
Street.

Latitude 3950"17"N

Longitude 84 53’ 53" W

UTM: 16 S 0679974
4411853

Township/Range NW corner of NW corner of Section 32 Towips14 N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Grist

Date Erected 1825

Ceased Functioning circa 1880

Remains None

In 1825, Thomas Newman built a grist mill on thestvfork of the Whitewater River. He
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operated it until his death in 1845. His heirstoared it until 1853 when they sold to Thomas

Hunt & Co. It then passed to Timothy Thistlethweaiind then to David Bush. Bush
remodeled the mill in1869. In 1877, Thomas anchJdtnt again became the own&tslt

caught fire in the 1880%.

Wayne 6—Nixon Paper Mill (a.k.a. Richmond Paper andag Co., Richmond Paper Mills)

Location This mill was located in Richnmtbon what is now the corner of Bridge
Avenue and Simdigm Parkway.

Latitude Unknown

Longitude Unknown

UTM: 16 S 0680088
4411554

Township/Range  SW corner of NE corner of Section 32 Towpsht N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Paper

Date Erected 1830

Ceased Functioningcirca 1931

Remains Raceway

Leeds and Jones built the Richmond Paper Mill iB0L8They then sold to Richmond
Manufacturing & Trading Co. The mill changed haadsin to the Nixon Bros. It burned
completely in 1871 and they rebuitt. The dam of the mill washed away in the spring@81.
The mill ran on both steam and water at the tiffiee steam engines supplied the power until
the dam was rebuilt later in the year and watefcceupply more of the energy (Richmond
Telegram, 1881)° Thomas Nixon owned the mill in 1884 and conveited full steam power

around this tim&’ In 1902, the mill caught fire and the roof burndthis put the mill out of

*2 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana. Vol.1, 501.

%3 History of Wayne County, Indian&ol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1§881.

> Henry Clay Fox, edMemoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, (Madison, Wisconsin:
Western Historical Association, 1912), 501.

% History of Wayne County, Indian®ol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1§882.

%6 Richmond Sun-TelegraiRichmond, IN), 9 June 1881.

> History of Wayne County, Indian®ol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1§881.
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business for a time because of a lack of insurand@e building. In 1906, an effort to

incorporate the business was made with the helipcaf business owners who wanted stock in
the company, but apparently failét An incorporation effort started yet again in 198dn
1911 with incorporation efforts still unsuccessiixon sold the mill to May Rittenhou$&.The

city dynamited the remains in 1931 because it deleimem unsafé*

Nixon Paper and Bag Mill located in Happy Hollo@ourtesy of the Indiana Historical Society.

%8 Richmond Sun-TelegraiRichmond, IN), 9 June 1906.
%9 Richmond PalladiuniRichmond, IN), 4 May 1909.

60 Richmond PalladiungRichmond, IN), 7August 1911.
61 Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 6 March 1931.
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Bill Frazier standing in the old raceway of NixBaper and Bag Mill. 2005. Photo taken by author.

Wayne 7—Spring Grove Oil Mill (a.k.a. Burson’s Oil Mill)

Location This mill was located in Riobnd near the intersection of Highway 27
(Chester Bowas) and Sim Hodgin Parkway.

Latitude 3958 38" N

Longitude 84 53 05" W

UTM: 16 S 0680599
4412348

Township/Range NE corner of SE corner of Section 29 Towpd4 N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: oil

Date Erected 1853

Ceased Functioning circa 1877

Remains None

D.S. Burson and I.P. Evans built the Spring GroyeMdl in 1853. It manufactured

linseed oil. In 1861, Burson became the sole owitdsurned in 1864. E.T. and J.W. Burson



23
rebuilt it and then sold it in 1871. Operationrtleeased until 1878. In 1876 Kendall and

Barnes leased the building and in 1877 they solvens, Ferguson, and Reeves. The mill
closed soon aftéf At some later date the building sold to a tobammmpany that operated for
many years.

This mill’s official name was Spring Grove Oil Mitlut many people knew it as Burson’s

Oil mill due to the primary owners’ last names.

This is a drawing of the Spring Grove Oil Mill. &ldate and artist are unknown. Courtesy of thahadHistorical Society.

62 History of Wayne County, Indiarn¥ol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [18848.
83 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 503.
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Wayne 8—Champion Roller Mill (a.k.a. Spring ValleyMill)

Location This mill was located in Riobnd on Fort Wayne Avenue under the
Highway 27 opass. This was a steam powered mill and was not
powered by WWbaitewater River.

Latitude 3950'10" N
Longitude 84 53" 22" W
UTM: 16 S 0681507
4412149
Township/Range SW corner of NW corner of Section 33 Tohipsl4 N/Range 1 W
Mill Type: Steam Powered Grist
Date Erected 1877
Ceased Functioning after 1912
Remains None

In 1877, the Champion Roller Milling Co. was built.manufactured linseed oil.
Kendall, Barnes, & Co owned it until 1882 when tizane changed to Kendall, Reeves, & Co
(the owners of Spring Grove Oil Mill for a shontnie). In 1883, they converted it to a grist mill
with the famous patented roller proc&sThe Champion Roller Milling Co. became
incorporated in 188% The mill was in operation in 1912 but the actlmte that production

ceased is unknowfs.

% History of Wayne County, Indiana/ol.2 (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1§88b.
% Fox, ed.Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 507.
% Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 519.
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Champion Roller Mill in its prime. Circa 1900. Ctesy of the Indiana Historical Society.

Wayne 9—Fleecy Dale Woolen Mill

Location This mill was located in Richnd at the end of North Street off of
North “J” Street

Latitude 39 50'33" N

Longitude 84 52' 02" W

UTM: 16 S 0682547
4411577

Township/Range  NE corner of the NE corner of Section 33vhiship 14 N/Range 1 W.

Mill Type: Woolen

Date Erected Unknown

Ceased Functioning 1888

Remains None

Fleecy Dale Woolen Mill, originally a saw mill, wéscated on the east fork of the
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Whitewater River. The date that this mill was bislunknown. In 1825, Benjamin Hibberd

converted it to a woolen mill. Benjamin Bond anghiAeus Test purchased it in 1849 and ran it
for several years. They sold to Samuel Nixon arekiel Aikin who ran the mill until 1867
when Nixon sold his half to Samuel Porter. Thisievship continued until 1878. After that

the sole owner was Ezekiel Aikin until his deatl1881 when operation was continued by his

son, James Aikin. In 1888 the mill burned down amad never rebuift®

Fleecy Dale Woolen Mill. Date unknown. Courtesyttd Indiana Historical Society.

87 History of Wayne County, Indiandol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]7.
% Richmond Item(Richmond, IN), 3 June 1941.
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Wayne 10—Hawkins Saw Mill

Location This mill was located in Rinbnd at the east side of the lake in Glen
Miller Park.

Latitude 3950 10" N

Longitude 84 52’ 02" W

UTM: 16 S 0682547
4411577

Township/Range NW corner of SW corner of Section 34 Tohipsl4 N/Range 1 W.

Mill Type: Saw

Date Erected 1810

Ceased Functioning 1870

Remains None

John Hawkins built the Hawkins Saw Mill about aerdownstream from its later Glen
Miller Park location in 1810. Six years later AkarMoffit built a grist mill just below it. This
backed up the water at the saw mill. This eveisedhthe question of water rights. Since both
men were members of the Friends Church, they ¢éeCtiurch committee decide the outcome.
The Church deemed the products of the grist millenio need and the saw mill closed. In 1820
Hawkins rebuilt on the present site of the laké&lan Miller Park (Indianapolis Star, 194%).
John Hawkins, Jr. replaced the mill in 1849. legted until 1870 when the city acquired the
property for Glen Miller Park. When the lake waslt) the first story was covered by the water,
and the second floor became a bath house. Thi&atgtydeemed it unsafe and tore it down in
1880 (Coate, 1943f. John Hawkins brother, Nathan, ran a turning lath®len Miller Park. In
1856 he built a saw mill on the site of the old thoase at the upper end of the lake and

operation continued there until 1880.

% Indianapolis Sunday Stéindianapolis, IN), 2 May 1943.

"L Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 22.



Hawkins Saw Mill after lake was formed. Picturkem before being torn down in 1880. Courtesy efltidiana Historical Society.

Wayne 11—Elliot Saw Mill (a.k.a. Cascade Mill)

Location This mill was located in Rimbnd on Wernle Road near the intersection
of
Garwood Road.
Latitude 3947 12" N
Longitude 84 50'34” W
UTM: 16 S 0684673
4407932
Township/Range SE corner of the SW corner of Section dviiship 13 N/Range 1 W.
Mill Type: Saw and Grist
Date Erected 1812

Ceased Functioning 1884
Remains Falls where wheel sat
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In 1812, Jacob Fouts, Jr. built a saw mill at @ eit Short Creel In 1818, Benjamin

Moore purchased the mill site and operated it dn&itlied 1850. William Elliot then built a grist
mill with a carding machine attach&tl.In 1876, Hamilton Stigleman and Isaac Gause ¢gera

the mill until the death of Mr. Stigleman when Galecame the sole owner. The mill was

known as the Cascade Mill until 1884 when producteased?

Elliot Saw Mill. Date unknown. Courtesy of the Iada Historical Society.

"2 History of Wayne County, Indiandol.2, (Chicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [18845.
3 palladium Item(Richmond, IN) 7 November 1952.
" Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 23.
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Wayne 12—Moffitt Flour Mill (a.k.a. F.H. Stafford G rist Mill, Quaker City Mill,

Richmond Corn Mill)

Location This mill is located in Richmond near the intetsen of Highway 227 and Highway
121.
Latitude 39 50’ 28" N
Longitude 84 53'07" W
UTM: 16 S 0680952
4412081
Township/RangeNW corner of the NW corner of Section 33 TownshpN/Range 1 W.
Mill Type: Grist
Date Erected1815
Ceased FunctioningJnknown
Remains This is one of only two standing mills in Wayneuty as of 2008.

Charles Moffitt moved to the Richmond area from tRaZarolina in 18112 In 1815 he
built one of oldest grist mills in the county jusitside of the limits of the city at that time. i¥h
was the only mill in the county that was run byusmaershot wheel. Hugh Moffitt rebuilt the
mill in 1873. Benjamin Fulghum owned half of titdrest in the company at this time. They
then sold to Kenworthy & Fulghum whose company naras changed to Kenworthy & Son.
Ezra Hill and Henry Wetherald then purchased the mihe company name became Hill &
Stafford when Wetherald sold his share and it raheu this name until 1879 when it became
F.H. Stafford. Fire destroyed the mill in 1883afrd rebuilt it but went bankrupt in 1884. D.
W. Marmon, the grandson of Charles Moffitt, boutftd site in1890. He replaced the buhr
grinding stones with roller€. According toThe History of Wayne County (1884), this mill was
also called the Quaker City Mill. People as far away as Indianapolis and Fort Waigiked

the mill.”® This is one of the only two mills still standiitgthe county in 2008.

> palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 25 April 1944.

® Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 500.

" History of Wayne County, Indian&hicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]), 80.
8 Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 22.




31

Moffitt Flour Mill a.k.a. Richmond Corn Mills. Datenknown. Courtesy of the Indiana Historical Sogiet



Moffitt Flour Mill. One of the two mills still stading in the county. 2005. Photo taken by Peggy&rator.

Wayne 13—Finley’s Mill (a.k.a. Mering Mill, Richmond Valley Mill, Underwood Mill)

Location This mill was located in Rimbnd under where the “G” Street bridge
now stands.

Latitude 3949'02" N

Longitude 84 54'05" W

UTM: 16 S 0679639
4409373

Township/Range NW corner of the SE corner of Section vfiship 13/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Grist and Woolen

Date Erected 1830

Ceased Functioning 1890
Remains None




33
John Underwood had a grist mill below the StarnBi#/orks in 18303° William

Bancroft then converted it to a woolen mill in 1846subsequently had many ownership
change$® Some owners converted the mill back to a flodt agjain®" John Finley, Daniel
Jones, Jacob and Thomas Wright, and William Higglhewned the mill between 1846 and
1856. Jacob Mering bought the site in 1856. HaHer, Luther, then bought it from him 1857.

The mill burned down in 188%. The mill closed in 1898

Wayne 19 & 20—Chandler and Crawford Grist Mill/Bull a Saw Mill

Location These mills were located inHRnond under where the Middle Fork
Reservoir isnnlmcated.

Latitude 3951'37" N

Longitude 8452’ 21" W

UTM: 16 S 0682010
4414224

Township/Range NW corner of the SW corner of Section 28hship 14 N/Range 1 W.

Mill Type: Grist/Saw

Date Erected 1808

Ceased Functioning Unknown

Remains None

In 1808, William Bulla built a saw mill very cloge Burson’s Oil Mill on the Middle
Fork of the Whitewater Rivét:
One mile north of this mill, Robert Chandler balgrist mill. Benjamin Crawford was

one of the last owners. Fire destroyed the Hill.

9 History of Wayne County, Indiari€hicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]), 83.
8 Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 19.

8 History of Wayne County, Indiar{€hicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]), 83.
82 History of Wayne County, Indiari@hicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]), 83.
8 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 501.

8 Wwissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 21.

8 Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 21.
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Wayne 21—Thistlethwaite Mill

Location This mill was located in Richnmabacross from Springwood Park by
Thistlewaite lBabn Waterfall Road.

Latitude 3950'59"N

Longitude 84 53'57" W

UTM: 16 S 0679831
4412705

Township/Range  NW corner of the SW corner of Section 29hehip 14 N/Range 1 W.

Mill Type: Grist

Date Erected 1854

Ceased Functioningunknown

Remains Unknown

According to a plaque at the top of Thistlethwé&igdls in Spring Grove on Waterfall
Road, this was the location of a grist mill bu§t Bimothy Thistlethwaite with his brother-in-law
in 1854. This information was confirmed by Willigfnazier based on a document that he owns
that he believes was given out at the dedicatioenceny when the plagque was put installed.
However, none of this information could be veriflagdany published documentation. It is

known whether remains of a foundation on the lacatvere part of the mill structure.



USE 01
, ottom “of an ‘eart ] and
g nver channel this changmg the course of the river to flow
1ew “channel over a rocky ledge forming Thistlethwaite Falls.
ithstood 2 century of ﬂoods of the seasons.

eavy growth of umbu and the
’the bed of lhc tiver.

'S Saw ;;l“ 1 site Was’ placed at Lhc edge of

-the falls over a shoulder of rock and near the bull wheel. A lock
~Was mstalled above the falls to regulate the.volume of watér used in
‘ 7~The 47' fall from.the-falls“allowed Timothy"s
'.development of several mills @ grist mill,- flour-mill, paper-mill and
"lumber sawing mlll) in the Happy Hollow district of eatly Richmord.

% remained asa reminder of these mills except

1u) ber sawmg mnl]) m_the,Happy Ho]l.owl,dxstnct of edll Richmon
'<After 80 years nothmg remamed'as a, reminder 6f these mills except
the pit-at the falls whlch ran_the bull wheels of the up-and-down saw
;'and a portion of a continuation of a ‘taceway from the paper mill site

downstream.

This marker was placed by the Hon. Peter Tilton Cranter
National Society Colonial Dames XVIIC

Photo of plaque at top of Thistlethwaite Falls020Photo taken by author.
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Photo of indentation in falls where mill wheel s2005. Photo taken by author.

Wayne 22—Cox Mill

Location This is located in Middlebormrth of Richmond, on Highway 227. A
smaller mill bdiihg is also located on the property and that wasre/the
mill was housedilit outgrew that building.

*Main mill building*

Latitude 3953 54" N
Longitude 84 49'50" W
UTM: 16 S 0685370
4418255
*Smaller mill building*
Latitude 3953 53"N
Longitude 84 49' 51" W
UTM: 16 S 0685435
4418245

Township/Range  SW corner of NW corner of Section 12 Towpsh4 N/Range 1 W.
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Mill Type: Grist
Date Erected 1820
Ceased Functioning1920
Remains This is one of only two milkft standing in the county.

Robert Cox built the fifth mill in the county at Wtileboro in 1820. In 1828 he built a
much larger mill building on the propef§.He built an extended portion of the basemenobff
the back of the building for the wheelhouse. ived three different purposes. The outer wall
supported the outer bearings of the wheel shaftihglthe wheel, protected the wheel from
becoming coated in ice in the winter, and protetibedvheel from drying out in the summer
sun®’

The mill operated continuously from 1860 to 1920then sat abandoned until 1953
when it was purchased by Grimsley Hobbs, an assoprafessor of philosophy at Earlham
College. He and his wife began making restorattorthe property in hopes of getting the mill
up and running again, possibly on a small commkscae. However, the dam from the
Whitewater River that once provided water to th# na longer existed and the raceway was
just a grass covered groove in the ground, sord@yhe burh stone by a gasoline endfhe.

The Hobbs sold the property in 1962 to Richard Mekevho had hoped to put an
antique store on the property. McKees then solddoald Martings who wanted the property
for a gun shop. In 1973 the ownership of the millding changed to Eric and Gay Smith who

hoped to get the mill in working order once agdinlohn and Gayle Backmeyer bought the

property from the Smiths in 1981. They sued thenér owners for selling the property under

8 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 500.
87 SchlotterbeckBy Old Mill Sreams 1986. 6.

8 palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 19 July 1953.

8 palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN) 15 July 1973.
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false pretenses (Palladium Item, 19%1)The property had a pest problem and was notgn th

condition previously stated. In 2008, this milkidll occupied as a residence by Dr. Dariece

Senderak DVM and is one of the only two mills stthnding in the county.

Photo of original Cox Mill building. 2005. Photden by Jon Branstrator.

% palladium-ltem(Richmond, IN), 14 April 1981.



Photo of back of original Cox Mill building from ae where wheel would have sat. 2005. Photo takefohyBranstrator.
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Photo of larger Cox Mill building. One of two nglktill standing in the county. 2005. Photo takgiPeggy Branstrator.



Photo of original raceway leading to mill. 2005 oRhtaken by Peggy Branstrator.



Photo of enclosed mill wheel building added to pcofrom weather. 2005. Photo taken by Jon Bratastra

Boston Township

Boston 1—Elkhorn Falls Mills (Wolfe Mill)

Location This mill was located southRi€hmond in Boston Township on Highway
227.

Latitude 3946’ 41" N

Latitude 84 51' 51" W

UTM: 16 S 0682916
4405099

Township/Range  NE corner of the SW corner of Section 2&ship 13 N/Range 1 W

Mill Type: Grist

Date Erected 1817

Ceased Functioning1909




Remains A piece of the grist stonestidl located on the property. A portion of *
the falls idlidtnere.

In 1817, Jesse Davenport built the mill at EIkhBalls. The rock in this area created a
vertical wall in which the water fell over 25 féét.Davenport later added a saw mill on the same
site. One of the first oil mills in the county aleperated on this sité. Addington & Brown
rebuilt the mill in 1859 and the mill was then knoas Relief Mills®® Later, Samuel Brown,
William Elmore, and John Wolfe became owners. Bedter and steam ran the mill at this time.
The mill then switched hands to G. W. FergusonJoith Wolfe who operated the mill until

1903 when it was sold to Cyrus Cable. He contirthedmill until 1909 when he sold to C & O

Railroad Co

1 Fox, ed. Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 19.

92 issler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 23.

9 History of Wayne County, Indian&hicago: Inter-State Publishing Co. [1884]), 270.
% Wissler, “The Mills of Wayne County,” 1912, 23.
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'Wolf Mill at Elkhorn Falls -

Elkhorn Falls mill before being torn down circa 89Courtesy of the Indiana Historical Society.
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Photo of mill stone found on property of ElkhornlIM2005. Photo taken by Jon Branstrator.



Photo of blasted out space where Elkhorn Mill whelin its raceway. 2005. Photo taken by Jon Bratos.

Boston 2—Hunt Mill (a.k.a. Endsley Mill)

Location This mill was located southRi€hmond in Boston Township near
Endsley Road.
Latitude

Longitude

46
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UTM:

Township/Range  SW corner of the SW corner of Section 2%iiship 13 N/Range 1 W.
Mill Type: Grist

Date Erected 1807

Ceased Functioning1881

Remains None

Charles Hunt and his sons built a grist mill ontglkn Creek one mile from its mouth in
1807. This was the first mill built in the countiefore this mill was built, the settlers had to
pack their grain to Miami, Ohio or Brookville, Iratia to have it ground (Fox 1912, 88)In
1847 James and John Endsley built a saw mill orsdinge site. In 1881, in order to make room

for growing crops, the mill was torn down.

Conclusion

Wayne County and the city of Richmond, Indiana teassthey do today because of the
tremendous water power of the Whitewater Riveris TWater power was vital to the lives of the
European pioneers who settled this area. Millatectan enormous industry which started
Richmond’s foothold into American expansion. Ewiay necessities could not be taken for
granted as they are today when something as simspdoaf of bread could take a trip of over
one hundred miles to get. Flour sometimes hacteabted to distant towns to be ground to
flour. Flax seed (a.k.a. linseed) oil from thenills was used for as a wood preservative, soaps,
and as glazing putty for glass.. The homes weilefbam logs cut at the saw mills. Yarn could
be spun and woven into cloth locally instead oppkd from far away or being hand-made.

Mills either ceased functioning or converted tastepower around the turn of the
century. The Industrial Revolution brought aboesvrtechnologies and new processes for

fulfilling everyday needs. Manufacturing facilsi€ould be located anywhere with this new
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technology. These other power sources were mbableso water powered mills could no

longer compete.

Mills were the foundation of the economy of eaijtiement in Wayne County because
of the unusually large number of suitable sitesnidls. Large sums of money were put into the
mills to give the people of the county the servitesy desperately needed. It is evidence of the
important role that the mills played by how manyeds some of them were rebuilt after burning
down. The large number of local mills also indesatheir importance. Hundreds of mills
occupied the county at certain times. Mills were ohthe largest reasons why Richmond,
Indiana is on the map. Knowing the history of memarkable county will help us to appreciate

the hard work that many people put into making WWa@ounty great.

% Fox, ed.Memoirs of Wayne County and the City of Richmond, Indiana, Vol.1, 58.
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